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Clover Hill is an important element of the architectural continuum in Jefferson County
in the nineteenth century. It is especially important in that it is one of very few
surviving early nineteenth-century structures in the southwest portion of Jefferson
County. In addition, it represents several phases of building in the nineteenth century
including an octagon room in 1863. The structure is situated on Dixie Highway '
(formerly the Valley Turnpike) in Shively and is surrounded by commercial establishments.

The main block of the house is a two-story, red brick structure in English bond with
interior-end chimneys. Queen closures are used on the front corners of the main block.
The sills and lintels of the main block are of wood. This main portion, built c. 1826,
originally had a standard, five-bay facade. The front door has been widened and new
doors added; however, the wooden double doors in the rear of the hall appear to be
original. On the second story, the pair of windows in the center replaced a single
window when two bathrooms were added upstairs. All of the other windows in the main
block appear to be original and have nine over six panes.

It is uncertain whether the front porch is original; however, in Howard Miller's
Farm Notes of 1863, he mentions the '"reroofing of the front porch." Thus, a porch
of some type existed in 1863. The porch has four round columns with Tuscan capitals,
a balustrade, and two rounded pilasters. A triangular gable surmounts the porch.

Over the years, the Miller family enlarged their homestead. According to tradition,
Robert N. Miller first built in c. 1817 a log structure which later served as a

kitchen. The brick.main: house.was begun in c¢.- 1826 with additions made mainly in a
seven-year period from about. 1857 to.1864.. A:diary or farm journal kept by Howard
Miller (now at The Filson Club) records daily operations on the farm, weather, buildings
being erected, - and comments onevents such as. the Civil War. In 1858, the diary mentions
the hauling of lumber for a carriage house, the building of the carriage house, and the
shingling of the roof. In December of 1858, a comment on the "upper new room'" is
recorded. This refers to either the back wing or the wing to the east. Then in July
of 1859, the digging:of the foundations for the library is recorded and subsequent
comments are recorded on the erection of the library including '"penciling library."

It is unclear which of the two additions on the eastern portion of the house is the
library or 'mew part' of the house. Thus, from Miller's diary, we have an exact date
of the various additions to the Miller homestead including the octagon room. In

August of 1863, according to the diary, brick was hauled for the octagon room, and the
foundation was dug. It was referred to as the 'western octagonal room,'" but no
indication was given as to why an octagon shape was chosen. Throughout September and
October of 1963, references were made to the various tasks of building the octagonal
room. The new octagon room was in use by the end of November, 1863. On the interior
west wall is a large fireplace with a wooden mantel.

The original homestead had the three additions mentioned, and it also had several
porches added in the rear and on the east side.

(]
The interior configuration was changed to include a hallway set perpendicular to
the central hall. This cross hall facilitated passage to the three additions. Two
bathrooms were added in the front of the upper hall in the main block.
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Clover Hill is a fine example of an early nineteenth-century, vernacular farmhouse
of a type found elsewhere in Jefferson County, However, it is one of very few
remaining early nineteenth-century structures in the southwestern part of the county.
The existence of an octagon room places.it.as a special entity.

Clover Hill had been the home for over three quarters of the nineteenth century for
the Miller family.

Robert Nicholas Miller, who built Clover Hill, was the son of Isaac and Mary Lewis
Miller of Charlottesyille, Virginia. The Miller family came to Jefferson County in
1804, and in 1811, settled on an extensive tract of land southwest of the city between
the present Cane Run Road and Dixie Highway.

Robert Miller moved from his father's home in 1817 to the portion of the tract bounded
by the Valley Turnpike or Eighteenth Street Turnpike, now Dixie Highway, according to
tradition. He first built a double-log house on, the Clover Hill site where he and his
wife, Juliét Thruston Holloway, lived. The main block of Clover Hill is believed to
have been built by Robert. Miller about 1826.. The log house then became. the kitchen.
According to oral tradition, bricks for the house were burned on the place by slaves.

Robert Miller's w1fé dled in 1830, and he subsequently married Mary Latimer Howard,
daughter of John Howard of Jefferson County. Robert Miller considered himself primarily
a farmer, but he was elected to the State Legislature in 1831 and 1848 and was, for
many years, vice-president of the Agricultural and Mechanical Association. He was

also instrumental in the establishment of the Louisville and Nashville Turnpike and

was the president of the company owning the Jefferson County portion. He died in 1877.

One of Robert N. Miller's sons, Howard, who was born at Clover Hill in 1832, lived
much of his life on the farm, apparently running its operations for his father.
Howard Miller was educated in local schools and later attended the Western Military
Institute at Georgetown, Kentucky. He married Medora Griffin, and they had nine
children, all of them born at Clover Hill.

During many of the years Howard Miller was engaged in farming, he kept diaries detailing
the various operations involved in running a large farm with numerous slaves. He

also comments on the several additions he made to the original house. Several volumes
of this diary are extant.

(continued)
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None of the original outbuildings remain; however, there is a twentieth-century
garage structure on the property. The house sits on a slight rise--thus the name
Clover Hill. The property has a number of fine old trees and plantings.
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In the late 1880s, Howard Miller moved into the city to live and began selling tracts
of his extensive acreage along the Valley Turnpike. Various owners acquired different
portions of the estate.

From 1908 to 1912, Colonel Bennett H. Young purchased four tracts containing thirty
acres |and including the site of Clover Hill. Young maintained the house as a summer
home and renamed it ''Youngland."

Bennett H. Young, one of Louisville's distinguished citizens, was a native of Jessamine
County, ,Kentucky. He was a student at Centre College when the Civil War began, and

he left to join the Confederate army, later serving in John Hunt Morgan's brigade.

He was captured but escaped to Canada and organized a series of raids into the United
States, most notably the raid on St. Alban's, Vermont. After the war, Young was
refused amnesty and went abroad to study. He graduated from the law department of
Queens College, Belfast, Ireland.

In 1868, he returned to Kentucky and settled in Louisville to practice law. He
becam¢ involved in numerous business and civic affairs in Louisville, particularly
the organization, operation, and construction of various railroad lines and the
building of the Kentucky and Indiana bridge. He was president of the Southern
Expos%tion in 1884, a member of the State Constitutional Convention of 1890-91,
founder of Bellewood Seminary in Anchorage, and influential in the reorganization of
the P¢1ytechnic Society, later to become the Louisville Public Library. His interests
included archaeology and literature, and he was the author of several articles on
Kentuéky archaeology, a history of Kentucky state constitutions,. writings on church
history, and other monographs on a variety of subjects, as well as a series of
humorbus stories about an old gander at his country home, "Youngland."
At the time of his death in 1919, General Young was involved in the final plans and
fund—iaising for the erection of the Jefferson Davis Monument at Fairview, Kentucky.

\
After| Young's death, the Clover Hill property passed through the hands of several
owners until it was purchased by the Hesser family in 1925, who occupied Clover Hill
until| the recent death of Howard Hesser.

|
Clove% Hill is an interesting combination of architectural elements of the nineteenth
century. The octagon room is perhaps the most unusual feature of the structure.
While| octagon rooms were popular as a nineteenth-century phenomenon throughout the
country, few were built in Jefferson County. This may be the only remaining one other
than the octagon rooms at Farmington from 1810.

(continued)
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The Miller homestead is a unique assemblage of architectural motifs spanning the
nineteenth century. Both the Miller family and Bennett H. Young, past owners of
Clover Hill, were important in the development of this section of the county. Young
was an important figure in the civic and cultural development of the city of Louisville
in addition to being an important personage in the Civil War. Clover Hill is one of
the most important sites of architectural and historical importance in Jefferson
County.
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Johnson, J. S. Memorial History of Louisville. Louisville: 1896, page 371, 504,
505, and 506.
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Clover Hill

2618 Dixie Highway

Louisville, Jefferson, Kentucky

Atlas of Jefferson § Oldham
Counties, Kentucky. Beers §
Lanagan, 1879. T

Map 3. Location on 1879 Atlas.
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